IRGINIA 

No. 16-0298 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST 

QUICKEN LOANS INC., 

Defendant below, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

SUE WALTERS, 

Plaintiff below, 

Respondent 

(From the Circuit Court of RaJeigh County, No. ll-C-1l23-K) 

BRIEF OF PETITIONER QUICKEN LOANS INC. 

Jeffrey J. Bresch (WV Bar No. 9558) 
JONES DAY 

500 Grant Street, Suite 4500 
Pittsburgh, PA 15219 
(412-391-3939) 
jbresch@jonesday.com 

Carrie Goodwin Fenwick (WV Bar No. 7164) 
GOODWIN & GOODWIN, LLP 
300 Summers Street, Suite 1500 
Charleston, WV 25301 
(304-346-7000) 
cgf@goodwingoodwin.com 

Counsel for Petitioner Quicken Loans Inc. 

NAJ-JSOJ074382 

mailto:cgf@goodwingoodwin.com
mailto:jbresch@jonesday.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The circuit court erred by denying Quicken Loans' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings 

as to count II of the complaint, an alleged violation ofW. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8). 

2. 	 The circuit court erred by concluding that plaintiff below, Sue Ellen Walters, prevailed 

and, therefore, was entitled to attorneys' fees and costs, even though she did not secure 

any relief. 

3. 	 The circuit court erred by awarding fees and costs that were unreasonable, such as those 

incurred pursuing other defendants for other claims and those incurred pursuing 

unsuccessful claims. 

4. 	 The circuit court erred by failing to meaningfully balance any of the twelve factors set 

forth in Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Pitro[o, 176 W. Va. 190, 195-96; 342 S.E. 2d 156, 161

62 (1986) to assess the reasonableness of attorneys' fees and costs. 

5. 	 The circuit court erred by failing to make adequate findings of fact and conclusions of 

law as to the propriety of the requested attorneys' fees and costs. 

6. 	 The circuit court erred by failing to offset compensatory damages, which include 

attorneys' fees and costs, by the total amount of the pre-trial settlements between plaintiff 

and defendants Bank of America, N .A. and Kirk Riffe. 
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INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal is fundamentally about the scope of West Virginia Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) 

(referred to herein as the "appraisal statute") and its attorneys' fee provision. The appraisal 

statute is intended to prohibit a lender from issuing a subsequent secured loan that exceeds the 

fair market value of the property. Its terms are clear, and it requires more than one mortgage 

loan for an actionable claim. The Circuit Court ofRaleigh County applied the statute to this case 

which involves a single, fixed-rate, 30-year primary mortgage entered by Plaintiff Sue Ellen 

Walters ("Walters") and Quicken Loans Inc. ("Quicken Loans"). No other mortgage loans 

existed following the September 2007 closing and, therefore, the appraisal statute was not 

implicated. The motion for judgment on the pleadings filed by Quicken Loans should have been 

granted. 

But the motion for judgment on the pleadings was not granted, and Quicken Loans 

eventually went to trial. Walters asked the jury for more than a million dollars at the conclusion 

of the five-day trial, the majority of which was for punitive damages. The jury rejected all ofher 

claims, except the statutory claim and for that awarded her $27,000. Applying tIus Court's 

precedent from a case involving materially similar claims, the circuit court offset the jury verdict 

in its entirety, rendering it a nullity. Walters went home with nothing. The only people to 

benefit from this litigation are Walters' lawyers to whom the circuit court awarded more than 

$150,000 in attorneys' fees and costS.l The circuit court's award is riddled with error: it 

awarded attorneys' fees and costs to a party who did not prevail; its award was otherwise 

IOn June 17,2016, Walters' lawyers filed a motion to substitute Marsha Gale Walters, 
the executrix of the estate ofWalters. This Court has not yet ruled upon that motion and, 
therefore, Quicken Loans did not change the case caption. Although Quicken Loans did not and 
does not intend to oppose that motion, it is not apparent what interest Walters' estate may have in 
the resolution of this appeal which concerns the fees and costs sought by her attorneys. 
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unreasonable for a variety of reasons, such as including fees and costs incurred pursuing other 

defendants and unsuccessful claims; it failed to develop an appropriate record for this Court to 

review the propriety of the award; and it failed to reduce any award by the offset it granted to 

Quicken Loans. 

Quicken Loans requests that this Court reverse the denial of its motion for judgment on 

the pleadings and enter judgment in its favor. Alternatively, Quicken Loans seeks the reversal of 

the fee and cost award, or a remand of same for additional findings, for correction ofjudgment, 

and/or for such other relief as this Court deems appropriate. 

A. 	 Quicken Loans originates a fIXed-rate, 30-year mortgage loan that benefits 
Walters. 

In the summer of2007, Walters found herself in financial straits. She was saddled with 

mortgage payments she could not afford. After seeing an advertisement, she called Quicken 

Loans and sought to refinance her existing mortgage loan. Compl. ~ 9, (A.R. 16).2 Specifically, 

she sought a lower interest rate and a lower mortgage payment. Trial Tr. vol. II, 88:4-8, Mar. 3, 

2015 (A.R. 646). 

The loan origination process spanned weeks and included the exchange ofdocuments, 

many ofwhich were required to be signed, and multiple phone calls. See, e.g., PI. 's Trial Exs. 3

5 (A.R. 2073-2077). It also included an assessment of the value of the subject property. 

Quicken Loans contacted Title Source Inc. ("Title Source"), a related but independent company, 

to secure an appraisal from a licensed, certified West Virginia appraiser. Quicken Loans' 

Answer, Cross Claims, ~ 3-5 (A.R. 31-32). Title Source contracted with Riffe, an independent, 

2 References to the Appendix Record, the contents ofwhich were agreed to by the parties, 
are set forth as "A.R." The parties filed ajoint motion to file a consolidated appendix in this 
appeal as well as the appeal filed by Walters, No. 16-0299. As of the date this brief was 
finalized, that motion had not been granted. 
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licensed appraiser unaffiliated with Quicken Loans or Title Source, to perform an appraisal of 

the property. !d. Riffe appraised the property in or around September 2007. Compl., ~ 12 (A.R. 

17). See also Pl.'s Trial Ex. 14 (A.R. 2143-61). In reliance on Riffe's appraisal, Quicken Loans 

originated a fixed-rate, 30-year mortgage loan on September 14,2007. Compl. ~ 14 (A.R. 17). 

See also Pl.'s Trial Ex. 6 (A.R. 2078-80). 

Walters admitted at trial that the mortgage loan that Quicken Loans originated benefitted 

her. Tr. Tran. vol. II, 87:18-88:8 (A.R. 644-45). See also Quicken Loans Trial Ex. 7 (A.R. 

2026). She achieved each of the things she sought when she phoned Quicken Loans for the first 

time: It provided her with a lower interest rate that had the corresponding effect of lowering her 

monthly payments by $300 per month. !d. Walters enjoyed the benefits of the Quicken Loans 

mortgage loan for more than 20 months. Trial Tr. vol. II, 88:4-89: 1 (A.R. 645-46). During 

some of those twenty months, Bank ofAmerica serviced the loan. Compl., ~ 17-18 (A.R. 18). 

And when Walters again found herself in financial distress, Bank ofAmerica attempted to ease 

her distress by modifying the loan. See Quicken Loans Trial Ex. 8 (A.R. 2027-30). 

B. 	 Walters initiates this lawsuit against Quicken Loans, Riffe, and Bank of 
America. 

In December 2011, Walters filed a lawsuit against Riffe, Quicken Loans, and Bank of 

America arising out of the mortgage loan. Compl., ~ 3-5 (A.R. 16). Walters pursued six claims 

total. Two against Riffe, id. ~ 33-39 (A.R. 21-22) (asserting claims for negligence and for 

acceptance of fee contingent on predetermined conclusion); three against Quicken Loans, id. 

~ 20-32 (A.R. 18-21) (asserting claims for unconscionable inducement, "illegal loan," and fraud), 

and one against Bank of America, id. ~ 40-41 (A.R. 22) (illegal debt collection
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misrepresentation).3 Walters did not itemize or otherwise attempt to calculate damages sought, 

see id. ~ 19 (A.R. 18), though she did seek punitive damages against Quicken Loans, id., Fraud, 

Wherefore clause, sub-part (b) (A.R. 20-21). 

In its answer, Quicken Loans admitted certain allegations, including the principal amount 

of the loan, Quicken Loans' Answer, Feb. 3, 2012, ~ 14 (A.R. 25), denied others, and asserted 

cross-claims for indemnification against Riffe, see id., Cross-Claims, ~ 1-25 (A.R. 31-35). It 

also filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings arguing that Walters' claim for a violation of 

the appraisal statute failed as a matter oflaw. See Quicken Loans' Mot. for J. on the Pleadings 

as to Count II ofPl.s' Compl., June 2,2014 (A.R. 64-81). By its terms the statute requires a 

primary and secondary mortgage that in the aggregate exceed the fair market value of the 

property on the date that the latest mortgage loan was made: "no primary or subordinate 

mortgage lending transaction may contain terms which ... [s]ecure a primary or subordinate 

mortgage loan in a principal amount that, when added to the aggregate total ofthe outstanding 

principal balances ofall other primary or subordinate mortgage loans secured by the same 

property, exceeds the fair market value of the property on the date that the latest mortgage loan is 

made." W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) (emphasis added). Walters did not allege the existence of 

a secondary mortgage, only a primary mortgage-the mortgage loan originated by Quicken 

Loans. See Compl. ~ 6-19 (A.R. 16-18). The circuit court rejected Quicken Loans' argument, 

holding that the appraisal statute applies where, as here, a single primary mortgage exceeds the 

fair market value of the home. Order Following Pre-Trial Conference, at 14, Dec. 10,2014 

(A.R. 270). 

3 Walters voluntarily abandoned her unconscionable inducement claim against Quicken 
Loans prior to trial. See June 16,2014 Notice of Dismissal of Count I (A.R. 82-83). 
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c. 	 Walters' discovery and litigation strategy was to develop claims other than 
Quicken Loans' alleged violation of the appraisal statute. 

Walters' claim for an alleged violation of the appraisal statute required evidence of the 

fair market value of the property at the date of loan origination and, if Quicken Loans asserted 

the affirmative defense that it relied on a bona fide appraisal from a licensed, certified appraiser, 

then also evidence that the appraisal did not comply with the Uniform Standards of Professional 

Appraisal Practice. See W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8). In light of Quicken Loans' admission 

regarding the principal amount of the loan, Walters did not need any discovery to establish the 

statutory claim. Rather she only needed to produce expert testimony regarding the value of the 

home at the closing and the sufficiency ofRiffe's appraisal. 

Walters pursued discovery to advance her other claims, including by noticing topics for 

deposition pursuant to Rule 30(b)(7) of the West Virginia Rules ofCivil Procedure that 

concerned origination of the loan, including its "solicitation" and "closing," and facts related to 

Quicken Loans' alleged "knowledge." Pl.'s Notice of30(b)(7) Dep., Nov. 13,2012 (A.R. 45

47). 

In connection with her fraud claim, Walters stated her intention to introduce testimony of 

so-called "pattern and practice" witnesses at trial to establish intent. Quicken Loans filed a 

motion in limine to exclude Walters' "pattern and practice" witnesses: Juanita Bishop, 

Loewanna Settle, and Anthony O'Brien. See Def. Quicken Loans' Mot. in Lim. to Exclude PI.'s 

Possible Pattern and Practice Witnesses, Nov. 1,2013 (A.R. 54-63); Mem. in Further Supp. of 

Def. Quicken Loans' Mot. in Lim. to Exclude PI.'s Possible Pattern and Practice Witnesses, Sept. 

30,2014 (A.R. 215-49). Following briefing and a hearing required by Rule 404 of the West 

Virginia Rules of Evidence, the circuit court refused to allow Ms. Settle to testify, but permitted 

the latter two persons to testify. See Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Quicken'S 
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Motion in Limine To Exclude Pl.'s Possible Pattern and Practice Witnesses ("Rule 404(b) 

Order") at 6, Nov. 12,2014 (A.R. 255). It concluded that the proposed testimony from "would 

be relevant to the plaintiffs claims, especially the plaintiffs allegation of fraud, to demonstrate 

this defendant's intent in this case." Id. See also Hr'g Tr., 7:18-20, Sept. 30,2014 (A.R. 106) 

(Walters' counsel stated that the Rule 404(b) testimony "is presented for the purpose of 

establishing Defendants' intent, knowledge, absence ofmistake and lack of accident"). After 

another hearing conducted during trial, the Court permitted Ms. Mazza to testify as a pattern and 

practice witness. See Trial Tr. vol. II, 40:3-5 (A.R. 597). Ms. Mazza and Ms. Bishop testified at 

trial; Mr. O'Brien did not. See Trial Tr. vol. II, 113-145 (A.R. 670-702). 

D. 	 Walters pursues claims against Riffe and Bank of America but ultimately 
settles with both prior to trial. 

Walters also sought pre-trial discovery from Riffe and Bank ofAmerica, see, e.g., Docket 

Sheet at 6/12112 (A.R. 2), and engaged in motions practice with Riffe, see, e.g., id. at 2114/13 

(A.R. 3) as well as Bank ofAmerica, see id. at 3/8/14 (A.R. 4). However, both settled prior to 

trial. Walters and Bank of America had settlement discussions as early as September 2012, 

though disputes developed causing the parties to require judicial intervention both by the circuit 

court and by a federal bankruptcy court. See generally Order Directing PI. Sue Ellen Walters 

and Def. Bank of America, N.A. to Request Approval of Settlement Agreement from Bankr. Ct, 

and, Pending Approval, to Effectuate Said Settlement, Apr. 3, 2013 (A.R. 48-53). On or about 

November 24,2014, Walters executed a settlement agreement with Bank of America, pursuant to 

which Bank ofAmerica would pay Walters $23,000, which included $7,500 allocated for 

attorneys' fees. See Settlement Agreement and Release (A.R. 1657-63). 
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In early January 2015,just three months before the March trial and following briefing on 

summary judgment, Walters and Riffe agreed to a settlement in principle following a mediation. 4 

It is Quicken Loans' understanding that Riffe will pay Walters $75,000, which includes $25,000 

allocated for attorneys' fees. See Order Granting Def. Quicken Loans, Inc. ' s Motion to Correct 

the Verdict Pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 60(a) And Granting Plaintiffs 

Pet. For Award of Attorney's Fees at Finding of Fact ,-r 9 (A.R. 2007). Thus, in total, Walters has 

received or will receive $98,000 in settlement proceeds from co-defendants Riffe and Bank of 

America. 

E. The five-day jury trial and verdict. 

Quicken Loans proceeded to trial as the sole defendant. Walters pursued her claims for a 

violation of the appraisal statute and for fraud. The trial lasted five days, with Walters calling 

five witnesses-Walters herself, Juanita Bishop, Carla Mazza, Dean Dawson, and Robert 

Wilson-and introducing 22 exhibits. See generally Trial Tr. vols. II-III, Mar. 3 and 4,2015 

(AR.558-1133). Walters sought more than $1 million in damages. See Trial Tr. vol. V, 81 :11

85:24, Mar., 6, 2015 (A.R. 1282-86).5 At the trial's conclusion, the jury rejected Walters' claims 

for fraud, punitive damages, and that Quicken Loans "willfully" loaned more than the fair market 

value of the home. It returned a verdict in favor ofWalters on her claim for a violation of the 

appraisal statute and awarded her $27,000. See Verdict, Mar. 6, 2015 (A.R. 1341). 

F. Walters and Quicken Loans each pursue post-trial relief. 

4 Walters and Quicken Loans could not agree on a settlement either at the January 
mediation or thereafter. 

5 The circuit court denied oral motions to enter judgment in favor of Quicken Loans at the 
close ofWalters' affirmative case, Trial Tr. vol. III, Mar. 4, 2015, 8:10-23:14 (AR. 851-66), and 
at the close of all the evidence, id. at 220:6-233:2 (AR. 1064-77). 
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In post-trial briefing, Quicken Loans filed a Motion to Correct the Verdict Pursuant to 

West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 60(a), requesting that the circuit court offset the $27,000 

jury award in favor ofWalters by the sum of the settlement agreements that Walters entered with 

co-Defendants Riffe and Bank Of America, $98,000, and hold the remaining $71,000 in 

abeyance pending resolution of Walters' petition for award of attorneys' fees. See Quicken 

Loans' Mot. to Correct the Verdict Pursuant to W. Va. Rule ofCiv. Proc. 60(a), June 1,2015 

(A.R. 1641-1703); Quicken Loans' Br. in Reply to Pl.'s Resp. in Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Correct 

the Verdict, Sept. 25, 2015 (A.R. 1906-11). Walters opposed this motion. See Pl.'s Resp. in 

Opp'n to Quicken Loans' Mot. to Correct the Verdict, Sept. 11,2015 (A.R. 1811-22). 

Walters filed a Petition for Award of Attorney's Fees, seeking $180,312.55 in fees and 

costs for 675 hours ofwork. See Pl.'s Pet. For Award ofAtt'ys Fees, June 1,2015, at 5, 16 

(A.R. 1346, 1357). The 675 hours represented the hours Plaintiff expended pursuing all claims 

and all defendants. See Pl.'s Reply In Supp. ofPet. for Award ofAtt'ys Fees at 5-7, Sept. 25, 

2015 (A.R. 1880-82). Walters reduced her requested award of attorneys' fees by $32,500, 

representing settlements that Walters reached with Defendants Riffe and Bank ofAmerica, in 

which Bank of America agreed to pay Walters $7,500 in attorneys' fees, and Riffe agreed to pay 

Walters $25,000 in attorneys' fees. Pl.'s Pet. for Award of Att'ys Fees, at 15-16, June 1,2015 

(A.R. 1356-57). Walters did not indicate which time entries corresponded to this $32,500 write 

down and which did not. Id. See also Pl.'s Reply In Supp. ofPet. for Award of Att'ys Fees at 5

7, Sept. 25, 2015 (A.R. 1880-82). Following a telephonic hearing, the circuit court required that 

Walters revise her petition for fees and costs to distinguish costs incurred pursuing co-defendants 

Riffe and Bank of America, as well as those incurred pursuing claims on which Walters did not 

prevail. See Order Setting Schedule on Post-Trial Issues (A.R. 1807-10). It rejected Quicken 
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Loans' request for discovery or an evidentiary hearing to assess the accuracy of the fee 

submission. Id. 

Walters filed a revised submission, adding detail to certain entries and increasing without 

explanation the hourly rates charged by each timekeeper. See Aff. of Sarah K. Brown with 

attached Revised Time Sheets Regarding Pet. for Award of Att'ys Fees, July 24,2015 ("Rev. 

Brown Aff.") (A.R. 1707-1806). Walters did not adequately distinguish time entries associated 

with work on the statutory claim from time entries associated with work on the claims for fraud, 

punitive damages, or willfulness. See id. The circuit court held oral argument on Quicken 

Loans' Motion to Correct the Verdict Pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 60(a) 

and on Walters' Petition for Award of Attorneys' Fees on October 8, 2015. See generally Hr'g 

Tr., Oct. 8,2015 (A.R. 1912-45). 

After the close of briefing and oral argument, the circuit court issued an Order Granting 

Defendant Quicken Loans, Inc.' s Motion to Correct the Verdict Pursuant to West Virginia Rule 

of Civil Procedure 60(a) and Granting Plaintiff's Petition for Award of Attorney's Fees on 

February 23, 2016 ("Order") (A.R. 2005-25). On the issue of offset, the circuit court found that 

it was "clear" that Walters "suffered a single indivisible loss arising from the combined actions 

ofDefendant Quicken and the settling co-defendants, Bank of America and Kirk Riffe" and, 

therefore, "Defendant Quicken is entitled to an offset as a matter oflaw." Id., at 7 (A.R. 2011). 

It ordered that the settlement proceeds be applied to offset the $27,000 jury verdict. Id. at 20 

(A.R. 2024). 

On the issue of attorneys' fees, the circuit court concluded that Walters was entitled to an 

award of fees and costs. It found that she "prevailed" on her claim of a violation of the appraisal 

statute "regardless of the dollar amount of damages actually awarded." Order, at 9 (A.R. 2013). 
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Moreover, it found that, "[a]lthough one could perhaps quibble over a few hours here and there, 

and even a few particular entries," Walters' "submissions in support of an award of attorney's 

fees are appropriate ...." Id. at 11 (A.R. 2015). The circuit court concluded that both the time 

expended and the fees incurred were reasonable. As to time, it found that the 708.65 hours 

expended were "reasonable" for a case that "included extensive hearings and briefing ...

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