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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

In an effort to evade liability for having originated a loan for Mrs. Walters well in excess of 

the fair market value ofher home, Quicken Loans asks this Court to apply an unambiguous statute 

in a strained and convoluted way that is inconsistent with this Court's prior holdings. Because West 

Virginia Code section 31-17 -8(m)(8) prohibits the origination ofprimary mortgage loans in excess 

of the fair market value of the property regardless ofwhether any other mortgage loans are secured 

by the property, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of Quicken Loans's motion for 

judgment on the pleadings. 

Despite that the jury found that Quicken Loans violated the West Virginia Residential 

5 




Mortgage, Lender, Broker and Servicer Act, and the Act provides for an award ofattorney's fees for 

violations of the Act, Quicken Loans argues that Mrs. Walters is not entitled to an award of 

attorney's fees because she did not "prevail." Quicken Loans's position attempts to insert a 

threshold requirement into a statutory fee award that this Court has expressly rejected. Further, as 

the record demonstrates, the circuit court thoroughly considered the applicable factors after a careful 

and extensive evidentiary presentation and oral argument, and its award was well within its 

discretion. Finally, the circuit court appropriately addressed this Court's jurisprudence in awarding 

offset of the attorney fee award in the amount of $32,500. No additional offset is appropriate 

because attorney fees arise from a separate and divisible injury from the damages arising from the 

inflated mortgage loan. The well-reasoned attorney fee award was within the circuit court's 

discretion and should be affirmed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Mrs. Walters does not believe oral argument is necessary in this matter as the circuit court's 

decision denying judgment on the pleadings is consistent with this Court's jurisprudence and the 

circuit court's order awarding attorney's fees is well supported by the record and within the court's 

sound discretion. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3). To the extent the Court would find oral argument 

helpful, Mrs. Walters believes oral argument under Rule 19 ofthe West Virginia Rules ofAppellate 

Procedure is appropriate as this case concern issues of settled law. W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a). 
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ARGUMENT 


A. 	 Because a single mortgage loan originated for an amount in excess of the fair 
market value of the property violates W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8), the Circuit 
Court did not err in denying Quicken Loans' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings 

In its first assignment oferror, Quicken Loans alleges that the Circuit Court erred in denying 

its motion for judgment on the pleadings as to Count II of Mrs. Walters's Complaint, which states 

a claim for illegal loan under West Virginia Code section 31-17-8(m)(8). Quicken Loans argues that 

the statute only applies when multiple loans combine to form an aggregate total of outstanding 

principal balances that exceed the fair market value ofthe property, and that in Mrs. Walters's case, 

it originated only a single mortgage loan, allegedly in excess of the property's value. Because 

Quicken Loans's interpretation is contrary to the plain language ofthe statute, this Court must affirm 

the Circuit Court's denial of Quicken Loans's motion for judgment. 

This Court reviews de novo questions ofstatutory interpretation. See, e. g., Meadows v. Wal-

Mart Stores, Inc., 207 W. Va. 203, 212, 530 S.E. 2d 676,685 (1999) (citation omitted). In deciding 

the meaning of a statute, this Court has explained that it "begins with the principle that judicial 

interpretation ofa statute is warranted only if the statute is an1biguous. A statute which is clear and 

unambiguous should be applied by the courts and not construed or interpreted." Syl pt. 3, Meadows, 

207 W. Va. at 214,530 S.E. 2d at 687 (citation and quotation omitted). In considering whether a 

statute is unambiguous, and therefore does not require construction or interpretation, courts must 

consider the context ofthe dispute. See West Virginia Highlands Conservancy. Inc. v. Huffman, 588 

F. Supp. 2d 678, 690 (N.D.W. Va. Jan. 14, 2009), affd 625 F. 3d 159 (4th Cir. 2010) (citing 

Robinson v. Shell Oil Co., 519 U.S. 337, 340 (1997». "[C]ourts should consider 'the language 
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itself, the specific context in which that language is used, and the broader context of the statute as 

a whole. The 'inquiry must cease ifthe statutory language is unambiguous and the statutory scheme 

is coherent and consistent. '" Id. If a statute is ambiguous, and therefore requires judicial 

interpretation, "legislative intention is the controlling factor; and the intention of the legislature is 

ascertained from the provisions of the statute by the applications of sound and well established 

cannons ofconstruction." Syl pt. 3, Meadows, 207 W. Va. at 214,530 S.E. 2d at 687 (citation and 

quotation omitted). One such canon is that "significance and effect must, if possible, be given to 

every section, clause, word or part of the statute." Id. (citation and quotation omitted). 

The statute at issue, West Virginia Code section 31-1 7 -8( m )(8), is unambiguous and requires 

no construction or interpretation by this Court. The statute provides that 

(m) In making any primary or subordinate mortgage loan, no licensee may, and no 
primary or subordinate lending transaction may, contain terms which: 
(8) Secure a primary or subordinate mortgage loan in a principal amount that, when 
added to the aggregate total ofthe outstanding principal balance ofall other primary 
or subordinate mortgage loans secured by the same property, exceeds the fair market 
value of the property on the date that the latest mortgage loan is made. 

W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) (emphasis added). The Act defines a primary mortgage loan, in 

relevant part, as "any loan primarily for personal, family or household use that is secured by a 

mortgage, deed of trust or other equivalent consensual security interest on a dwelling," while a 

subordinate mortgage loan is defined as the same such loan, but "subject to the lien ofone or more 

prior recorded mortgages or deeds of trust." See W. Va. Code § 31-17-1 (m) & (0). In other words, 

a "primary mortgage loan" is what is commonly referred to as a "first mortgage," while a 

"subordinate mortgage loan" includes what is commonly called a "second mortgage." 

The plain language of the statute clearly prohibits a lender from making a primary mortgage 
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loan that exceeds the fair market value ofthat property. First, the Act specifically targets "primary" 

mortgage loans: "[i]n making any primary or subordinate mortgage loan," "no primary or 

subordinate lending transaction may," and "secure a primary or subordinate mortgage loan." W. 

Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) (emphasis added). Second, the Act's prohibition on originating loans in 

excess of the property's fair market value applies even if there is only a primary loan. The Act 

prohibits securing a primary mortgage loan in a principal amount that "when added to the aggregate 

total ofthe outstanding principal balance ofall other primary or subordinate mortgage loans secured 

by the same property, exceeds the fair market value of the property on the date that the latest 

mortgage loan is made." Id. Ifthe mortgage loan at issue is a primary mortgage loan, not originated 

simultaneously with a subordinate mortgage loan on the same property, the "aggregate total of the 

outstanding principal balance" will simply be the amount of the principal balance of the primary 

mortgage loan. Taking Mrs. Walters's loan as an example, Quicken Loans originated a primary 

mortgage loan of $136,000, secured by her property that had a fair market value of $64,000. 

Quicken Loans did not originate a subordinate mortgage loan, so application of the statute simply 

requires considering whether Quicken Loans secured a primary or subordinate mortgage loan in a 

principal amount ($136,000) that, when added to the aggregate total of the outstanding principal 

balance of all other primary or subordinate mortgage loans secured by the same property ($0), 

exceeds the fair market value of the property ($64,000) on the date that the latest mortgage loan is 

made. See W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8). 

Consideration of the context of the statute at issue, which is part of the West Virginia Real 

Estate Mortgage Lender, Broker and Servicer Act (the Act), confirms that the statutory provision is 
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not ambiguous. See West Virginia Highlands Conservancy, Inc., 588 F. Supp. 2d at 690 

(considering the language, the specific context in which the language is used, and the broader context 

of the statute as a whole to determine if the statutory language is unambiguous and the statutory 

scheme consistent) (quotation and citation omitted). This Court has previously described the Act 

as a "predatory lending law" enacting certain restrictions on the mortgage lending industry. See 

Herrod v. First Republic Mortgage Corp., 218 W. Va. 611,618,625 S.E.2d 373, 380 (2005) (citing 

W. Va. Code § 31-18-8(m)(4) (2002)). In describing the very statutory provision at issue in this 

case, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals described the Act as "a law aimed squarely at predatory 

mortgage lending." See McFarland v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 810 F. 3d 273,280 (4th Cir. 2016). 

The court further found that W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) regulated "precisely the lending practices 

ofwhich McFarland complains," in a case where Mr. McFarland asserted that the primary mortgage 

loan at issue was made in excess of the actual fair market value ofhis property used as security for 

the loan. Id. Other provisions of the Act expressly provide that the Act is for the benefit of West 

Virginia consumers. See W. Va. Code § 37-17-4(e)(3) (requiring all mortgage lenders operating in 

the state to obtain a bond "for the benefit of consumers"). 

It is clear that the purpose of the Act and the specific section at issue is to protect West 

Virginia consumers from predatory mortgage lenders. In such a context, it is unambiguous that the 

statute intends to prevent lenders from originating mortgage loans in excess ofthe fair market value 

of the borrower's property-whether that loan is a primary or subordinate mortgage. It would be 

inconsistent for the Legislature to have intended to protect consumers from a subordinate mortgage 

that would increase the consumer's home-secured indebtedness beyond the value ofhis or her home, 
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but not extend the same protection to the consumer in obtaining a primary mortgage loan. It is even 

more absurd to conclude that the legislature intended to protect consumers from primary mortgage 

loans originated in excess of the home's fair market value only if that primary loan was originated 

alongside a subordinate mortgage loan. The language and context of the Act dictate that the 

legislative intent is to prohibit primary mortgage loans that exceed the fair market value of the 

property, whether or not there are multiple loans on the property. 

In fact, in the only case where this Court has had the occasion to address West Virginia Code 

§ 31-17 -8(m)(8), the Court affirmed a finding of liability where the claim was identical to the one 

here-including the same mortgage lender, Quicken Loans. See Quicken Loans. Inc. v. Brown, 230 

W. Va. 306, 325-26, 737 S.E. 2d 640, 659-60 (2012) (finding circuit court erred in remedy for 

violation ofillegal loan statute but otherwise affirming ruling). In the Brown case, this Court applied 

West Virginia Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) without needing to construe or interpret the statute. Id. The 

circuit court concluded that Quicken Loans violated the statute when it originated a primary 

mortgage loan with a principal balance of$144,800, despite that the actual fair market value of the 

property was $46,000. See id. There were no subordinate loans on the property, and no other 

outstanding principal balances to add to the aggregate total of principal balances secured by the 

property. This Court affirmed application of West Virginia Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) to a primary 

mortgage loan originated for an amount that exceeded the fair market value ofthe home without any 

other primary or subordinate mortgage loan secured by the same property. Accepting Quicken 

Loans's current interpretation of the statute would require this court to abrogate its prior ruling in 

Brown, which applied the statute consistently with the circuit court in Mrs. Walters's case. 

11 




Indeed, federal and state courts in West Virginia have routinely applied this statutory 

provision without the need to construe or interpret it. These courts have consistently found that the 

statutory prohibition applies to both primary and subordinate mortgage loans. See. e.g., Fabian v. 

Home Loan Center. Inc., No. 5: 14-cv-42, 2014 WL 1648289, at *3-4 (N.D.W. Va. Apr. 24,2014) 

(refusing to dismiss claim for illegal loan); Robinson v. Quicken Loans, Inc., 988 F. Supp. 2d 615 

(S.D.W. Va. Dec. 24, 20 13) (denying lender's motion for summary judgment on primary mortgage); 

O'Brien v. Quicken Loans. Inc., No. 2:12-cv-5138, 2013 WL 2319248 (S.D.W. Va. May 28, 2013) 

(refusing to dismiss claim for illegal primary loan); Hixson v. HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc., No. 

09-ap-42, 2011 WL 4625374, at *5-6 (Bankr. N.D.W. Va. Sept. 30, 2011) (denying summary 

judgment forlender); Bishop v. Quicken Loans, Inc., No. 2:09-cv-l076, 2011 WL 1321360, at *7-8 

(S.D.W. Va. Apr. 4, 2011) (denying summary judgment for lender); Croye v. GreenPoint Mortg. 

Funding, Inc., 740 F. Supp. 2d 788 (S.D.W. Va. Aug. 11,2000) (granting summary judgment where 

borrower failed to introduce evidence that appraisal relied upon by lender was not a bona fide 

appraisal); Quicken Loans, Inc. v. Brown, 230 W. Va. 306,325-26,737 S.E. 2d 640, 659-60 (2012) 

(finding circuit court erred in remedy for violation of illegal loan statute but otherwise affirming 

ruling); Guy v. Franklin American Mortgage Co., No. ll-C-85 (Cir. Ct. Monroe Cty., W. Va. Dec. 

17,2013) (denying summary judgment for lender). 

Even were the statute ambiguous, statutory construction requires an interpretation of the 

statute as applying to primary mortgage loans whether or not any other loans are secured by the 

property. This Court must give "significance and effect" to "every section, clause, word" of the 

statute. See Syl pt. 3, Meadows, 207 W. Va. 203, 530 S.E. 2d 676. Interpreting the statute to apply 
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only to primary mortgages that are originated along with a subordinate mortgage ignores that the 

Legislature intentionally used the disjunctive "or" in the statute: "no primary or subordinate lending 

transaction may ... contain terms which ... [s]ecure a primary or subordinate mortgage loan." W. Va. 

Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) (emphasis added). This Court has routinely recognized that "legislative use 

of the disjunctive signifies an alternative between at least two separate clauses." See State v. 

Saunders, 219 W. Va. 570, 575, 638 S.E. 2d 173, 178 (2006) ("It is axiomatic that where the 

disjunctive 'or' is used, it ordinarily connotes an alternative between the two [or more] clauses it 

connects.") (quotation and citation omitted). Ifthe legislature had intended to prohibit only primary 

mortgages in excess ofthe property's fair market value ifthe primary mortgage was originated along 

with a subordinate mortgages, the legislature would have use the conjunctive "and"-i.e., "no 

primary and subordinate lending transaction may ... contain terms which ... [s]ecure a primary and 

subordinate mortgage loan." 

Instead, the legislature used expansive words, like "any primary or subordinate mortgage 

loan" and "when added to the aggregate total of the outstanding principal balance of all 

other primary or subordinate loans." W. Va. Code § 31-17-8(m)(8) (emphasis added). As rules of 

statutory construction dictate, "[t]he word 'any' is a term of great breadth. Read naturally, [it] has 

an expansive meaning." See United States v. Ickes, 393 F.3d 501,504 (4th Cir. 2005) (quotation 

and citation omitted). As further evidence oflegislative intent, the version of the Act in place prior 

to 2000 applied exclusively to "secondary" mortgage loans. Such a reading is consistent with the

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